

Developmental Biology of Roots: One Common Pathway for All Angiosperms?

Wim Grunewald^{1,2} • Boris Parizot³ • Dirk Inzé¹ • Godelieve Gheysen² • Tom Beeckman^{1*}

¹ Department of Plant Systems Biology, VIB, Ghent University, Technologiepark 927, B-9052 Gent, Belgium

² Department Molecular Biotechnology, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University, Coupure links 653, B-9000 Gent, Belgium
³ Laboratoire de Biologie du Développement des Plantes, SBVME, IBEB, DSV, CEA, CNRS, Université Aix Marseille, Saint Paul lez Durance, F-13108, France

Corresponding author: * Tom.Beeckman@psb.ugent.be

ABSTRACT

The primary root meristem is formed during embryogenesis and supports the first growth of the seedling into the soil. However, the continuous growth of the above-ground plant parts imposes the establishment of an elaborate root system in order to mine for additional water and nutrients. This can only be achieved by *de novo* installation of extra root meristems soon after germination. In general, two fundamentally different types of root systems can be found in the plant kingdom. The taproot system is characterized by an elongating primary root with developing lateral roots while in plants with a fibrous root system, the primary root is early on replaced by a plethora of shoot-borne roots. Recently our knowledge on the formation and patterning of the primary root meristem has improved seriously. From early embryogenesis onwards, a response maximum of the cell-fate instructive plant hormone auxin is formed that activates specific patterning genes and leads to the establishment of a root stem cell niche. During lateral and shoot-borne root formation. Moreover, the onset of lateral and shoot-borne root formation from apparently fully differentiated cells is in sharp contrast with the embryogenic origin of the primary root and has been a point of controversy for many root biologists. In this review we will give an overview on the parallel mechanisms that might exist between embryonic and post-embryonic root development and will evaluate the potential existence of conserved molecular mechanisms between taproot versus fibrous root development.

Keywords: fibrous root system, dicots, lateral roots, monocots, primary root, taproot Abbreviations: BFA, brefeldin A; LR, lateral root; PR, primary root; PRM, primary root meristem; QC, quiescent centre; RAM, root apical meristem; SAM, shoot apical meristem

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	212
EMBRYONIC ROOT DEVELOPMENT	213
Building the primary root meristem	213
Arabidopsis root development: auxin as major player during hypophysis specification	214
Specification of the root stem cell niche	216
Embryonic root formation in monocotyledonous plants	217
POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT GROWTH	217
Physiological control of root meristem maintenance	217
Molecular control of root meristem maintenance	218
POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION	219
Building a lateral root meristem	219
Auxin signalling during lateral root formation	220
Patterning during lateral root formation	220
Priming of pericycle founder cells occurs in primary root meristem	221
Shoot-borne root formation	221
Lateral root formation in monocotyledonous plants	222
IS POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION IDENTICAL TO EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION?	222
PERSPECTIVES OF GENOME-WIDE ANALYSIS OF ROOT FORMATION GENES	222
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	222
REFERENCES	223

INTRODUCTION

The capacity to develop roots represented a fundamental evolutionary achievement enabling plants to migrate from aquatic to terrestrial habitats. In order to optimise their anchorage and uptake of water and nutrients, it is essential for terrestrial plants to develop an elaborate root system. Except for the primary root (PR), the entire root system of plants develops post-embryogenesis. This type of development is in contrast to animal development during which most of the body plan is established by the time embryogenesis is completed. Root systems vary widely both within and between species. One of the earliest root biologists, William Canon, made an initial distinction between root

Received: 2 August, 2007. Accepted: 23 September, 2007.



Fig. 1 Taproot versus fibrous root system. The taproot system of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (left) is characterised by one major primary root, from which lateral roots emerge shortly after germination. In contrast, the complex root system of maize (right) is mainly formed by shoot-borne roots. These shoot-borne roots are initiated from underground and aboveground nodes of the stem and are called crown and brace roots, respectively. The primary root system is only important during the very early stages of seed-ling development.

systems based on the PR that emerges from the seed (taproot system) and those that are based on shoot-borne roots (fibrous root system) (Canon 1949). Within the Angiosperms, dicotyledonous plants are characterised by a taproot system. Since most recent progress in both developmental and molecular events has been achieved in the dicot model plant Arabidopsis thaliana, we will focus on the latter as a representative member of plants with a taproot system. In accordance with the definition of a taproot system, the morphology of the Arabidopsis root system is characterised by one major PR, from which lateral roots emerge shortly after germination (Fig. 1). The fibrous root system is characteristic for most of the monocotyledonous plants. Due to the economical importance of the cereals maize and rice, molecular biologists over the last decade became increasingly attracted to study developmental aspects of monocot species. This has resulted in an increased insight into the fibrous root system anatomy and development. In contrast to Arabidopsis, in maize and rice the PR seems only to be important during the very early stages of seedling development whereas the functioning of the mature root system is guaranteed by multiple shoot-borne roots. These shoot-borne roots are initiated from underground and aboveground nodes of the stem and are called crown and brace roots, respectively. Some monocotyledonous plants, such as maize, form additionally embryonic roots. These seminal roots emerge a few days after germination from the scutellar node. All root types are able to develop lateral roots and form together the complex and intensively branched fibrous root system (Feix et al. 2002) (Fig. 1).

The existence of various types of taproot and fibrous root systems illustrates the diversity in root architecture that can be found across the plant kingdom. However at the anatomical level, roots of all plant species are remarkably similar. A central vascular bundle is surrounded, from inside to outside, by layers of four distinct cell types: pericycle, endodermis, cortex and epidermis (Dolan *et al.* 1993) (**Fig. 2**). The simple *Arabidopsis* root consists of one layer of each cell type, whereas the monocot maize contains 8 to 15 layers of cortical cells. The different cell types originate in the root meristem by the activity of a small population of stem cells. These stem cells surround a small group of mitotically less active cells, called the quiescent centre (QC) cells (Clowes 1956), that together act as an organizer to limit the stem cell status to its neighbouring cells (van den Berg *et al.* 1997). Depending on the species and the age of the individual root, the QC may vary from four cells in *Arabidopsis* (Dolan *et al.* 1993), to more than 1000 cells in maize (Jiang *et al.* 2003).

In this review, we describe the developmental biology of embryonic and post-embryonic root formation in *Arabidopsis* with emphasis on potential developmental and molecular pathways that might be shared between both processes. Furthermore, we discuss the level of conservation of the molecular mechanisms involved in root formation across monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plants.

EMBRYONIC ROOT DEVELOPMENT

Building the primary root meristem

Both in monocots and in dicots, the primary root (PR) represents the first visible organ that can be recognized at the time of germination. The onset of PR development starts however much earlier during embryogenesis and in Arabidopsis these early developmental stages have been wellstudied (Mayer et al. 1993; Scheres et al. 1994; Jürgens 2001). From fertilization on, the transition from zygote to embryo follows a conserved pattern of cell divisions starting with an asymmetric division that generates a small apical and a larger basal cell (Fig. 3). In most species, part of the descendants of both the basal cell and the apical cell will contribute to the embryonic root making the root a clonally hybrid plant organ. However, in species with a Caryophyllad type of embryogenesis, all root tissues derive from the apical cells (Barlow 2002). In Arabidopsis the apical cell forms a 32-cell globular structure by consecutive rounds of vertical and horizontal divisions, while the basal cell divides repeatedly horizontally yielding a single file of 7 to 9 suspensor cells (Jürgens 2001). At this stage, the uppermost suspensor cell is recruited by the apical proembryo and becomes specified as the founder cell of the PR meristem (PRM), or hypophysis. At heart stage, the hypophysis will divide asymmetrically giving rise to a large basal daughter cell and a lens-shaped apical daughter cell (Fig. 3). The apical cell will produce the four mitotically inactive cells of the quiescent centre (QC) that then induce their immediate adjacent cells to become the root meristem stem cells. Once the stem cells start to generate daughter cells, a fully functional root meristem is laid down.

Monocot embryogenesis differs severely from that of dicots and the architecture of monocotyledonous embryos is far more complex. Except for the first cell division that has been reported to be also asymmetric, the subsequent cell divisions follow a variable and unpredictable cell division pattern (even at the very early stages) during monocot embryogenesis (Zimmermann and Werr 2007). As a result, cell type specification in monocots is still poorly understood. The arbitrarily oriented divisions lead to a mass of cells that is defined as the pro-embryo in maize (Randolph 1936) and the early globular stage in rice (Itoh et al. 2005). In maize, the pro-embryo stage is followed by the transition stage where an internal, wedge-shaped meristematic region is formed in the anterior part of the embryo. At the coleoptilar stage, this region gives rise to the shoot apex, the surrounding coleoptilar ring, and the root apex. Similarly for rice, the formation of coleoptile, shoot apical meristem (SAM) and radicle primordium starts after the late globular stage. A major difference with dicots is that the PR of cereals is formed endogenously deep inside the embryo (Zimmer-mann and Werr 2005). Furthermore, the embryonic axis of monocotyledonous embryos is displaced laterally relative to



Fig. 2 Root anatomy of *Arabidopsis thaliana.* Upper panel: The central vascular bundle constituted from xylem and phloem, is surrounded by layers of four distinct cell types. From inside to outside: pericycle, endodermis, cortex and epidermis. Lower panel: The different root cell types originate in the root meristem by the activity of a small population of stem cells i.e. the root stem cell niche. The stem cells surround a small group of mitotically less active cells, called the QC cells.

the scutellum (which is considered to be the single cotyledon) in contrast to the apical-basal axis of dicots such as *Arabidopsis*.

Below we will give an overview on the molecular components involved in the formation of the embryonic root, first in *Arabidopsis* as representative species for the dicots, followed by a brief discussion of the more sparsely available data on monocot embryonic root development.

Arabidopsis root development: auxin as major player during hypophysis specification

The first anatomically recordable event in *Arabidopsis* root meristem formation is the establishment of the hypophysis. But how becomes the hypophysis specified? Recently, Friml *et al.* (2003) could demonstrate that during embryogenesis, efflux-dependent gradients of the phytohormone auxin fulfil a cell-fate instructive role. Using the auxin-responsive DR5 promoter activity, dynamic auxin accumulation patterns could be shown during embryogenesis, correlating with the localisation of auxin-transporting PIN pro-

teins. The Arabidopsis genome contains 8 PIN genes of which 5 have been functionally characterised so far (PIN1, PIN2, PIN3, PIN4 and PIN7). These PIN genes encode transmembrane proteins mediating auxin efflux and present specific and overlapping expression domains (Paponov et al. 2005). Two of them, PIN7 and PIN1, are expressed during early embryo development. PIN7 is localized to the apical plasma membranes of the suspensor cells suggesting that PIN7 facilitates auxin transport from the maternal tissue to the apical pro-embryo (Friml et al. 2003). In the pro-embryo itself auxin is equally distributed by PIN1. Inhibition of the apical auxin accumulation using auxin transport inhibitors or mutants in PIN7, disturbs the apical-basal axis formation and subsequently, the conserved cell division program (Friml et al. 2003). At the globular stage, the direction of PIN1-mediated auxin transport in the pro-embryo flips and the combined action of PIN1, PIN7 and a third PIN-family member, PIN4 leads to an auxin accumulation in the uppermost suspensor cell inducing hypophysis specification (Friml et al. 2003). Due to functional redundancy among PIN proteins, single, double and triple mutants show



Fig. 3 Embryogenesis of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. After fertilization the zygote will divide asymmetrically yielding a small apical and a larger basal cell. This stage is described as the one-cell stage (A). While the basal cell will divide horizontally, the apical cell divides vertically resulting in the two-cell stage (B). Consecutive rounds of vertical and horizontal divisions of the apical cells result in the octant stage (C), dermatogen stage (D) and ultimately in the globular stage (E). The basal cells divide repeatedly horizontally yielding a single file of 7 to 9 suspensor cells. Subsequently the hypophysis (indicated with white arrow) divides asymmetrically giving rise to a large basal daughter cell and a lens-shaped apical daughter cell. This stage is referred to as the triangular stage (F). The apical cell will produce the four mitotically inactive cells of the QC (G). The embryos develop into a heart stage (H) and later into the torpedo stage (I, early torpedo; J, torpedo). During this transition the root stem cells start to generate daughter cells and a fully functional root meristem is laid down.

no (Blilou et al. 2005) or rather subtle defects (Friml et al. 2003; Vieten et al. 2005). However, quadruple mutants pin1 pin2pin3pin7 and pin2pin3pin4pin7 are embryo-lethal and show aberrant cell divisions from the first cell divisions on, leading to malformed globular embryos. These early dramatic defects clearly highlight the importance of efflux-dependent auxin gradients for embryonic development (Friml et al. 2003; Blilou et al. 2005; Vieten et al. 2005). In order to react to developmental (such as PIN1 polarity switch during embryogenesis) or external cues (such as gravitropic response, see below), the polarity of PIN proteins can be rapidly modulated. The PIN proteins are continuously cycling between the plasma membranes and endosomal compartments, a process that is enabled by the GNOM gene. GNOM encodes a membrane-associated GDP/GTP exchange factor for small G proteins of the ARF class (ARF-GEF) and regulates vesicle transport that is sensitive to the drug brefeldin A (BFA) (Steinmann et al. 1999; Geldner et al. 2003). In strong gnom mutants the coordinated localization of PIN1 is perturbed and as a result these embryos display similar phenotypes as quadruple pin mutant embryos or embryos treated with auxin transport inhibitors, showing aberrant cell divisions throughout embryogenesis (Mayer et al. 1993). As a consequence gnom mutants fail to specify the hypophysis and result in seedlings without a functional root apical meristem (RAM) (Mayer et al. 1993). Interestingly the earliest abnormalities were observed during the one-cell stage, in which the plane of division was nearly symmetrical, suggesting that the GNOM gene is required before the asymmetric division of the zygote (Mayer et al. 1993). Although more PIN proteins have been shown to

cycle rapidly and internalize upon BFA treatment, GNOM does not seem to mediate all PIN protein trafficking to the same extent (Geldner *et al.* 2003; Jaillais *et al.* 2006).

The significance of auxin accumulation in the uppermost suspensor cell coinciding with hypophysis specification could be illustrated by the PP2A phosphatase mutants and by the ectopic expression of the PINOID protein kinase (PID) during early embryogenesis. Both enzymes control antagonistically the PIN apical-basal targeting (Friml et al. 2004; Michniewicz et al. 2007). Conditions in which PID kinase activities are relatively high result in predominantly phosphorylated PIN proteins, causing their targeting to the apical side of cells. In the converse situation, when PID activities are lower than those of PP2A phosphatase, PIN proteins are dephosphorylated and targeted preferentially to the basal side of the cell. In PID-overexpressing embryos and in *pp2aa* double mutant embryos, the characteristic turnover in auxin transport direction during globular stage does not occur and consequently an auxin maximum in the uppermost suspensor cell is not installed. This results in a misspecification of the hypophysis and consequently in rootless seedlings (Friml et al. 2004; Michniewicz et al. 2007).

In addition to a correctly organized auxin transport mechanism, the importance of auxin in hypophysis specification has also been demonstrated at the level of auxin response. Mutations in two genes, *MONOPTEROS (MP)* and *BODENLOS (BDL)* affect the formation of the RAM. Instead of the asymmetric horizontal division of the hypophysis, *mp* and *bdl* embryos show a vertical division, which leads to seedlings lacking an embryonic root (Hamann *et al.* 2002). The *MP* gene encodes ARF5, a transcription factor of the ARF (auxin response factor) family that activates auxin-responsive target genes (Hardtke and Berleth 1998). *BDL* encodes IAA12, a member of the Aux/IAA family of which all members act as negative regulators of the ARFs, by heterodimerization at low auxin concentrations. High au-xin levels directly activate the SCF^{TIR1} E3 ubiquitin ligase complex that promotes proteasome-mediated degradation of Aux/IAA members allowing the ARFs to regulate their auxin target genes (Gray et al. 2001). BDL and MP were shown to interact *in planta* and are (at least partially) responsible for the auxin response from early embryogenesis on (Weijers et al. 2006). Stabilization of the BDL homologue IAA13 prevents also MP-dependent embryonic root formation and as the expression pattern of IAA13 overlaps with that of BDL, it is assumable that both proteins need to be degraded for activation of MP target genes (Weijers et al. 2005). Interestingly MP and BDL (and IAA13) are expressed only in the pro-embryo and lack expression in the hypophysis. Furthermore they are not able to move from the pro-embryo to the hypophysis, suggesting they might regulate hypophysis specification in a non-cell-autonomous way (Weijers et al. 2006). Currently, intensive research focuses on trying to identify the MP/BDL downstream transcription factors, which transmit the cell-fate-instructive signal to the hypophysis (D. Weijers, pers. comm.).

More mutants for components of the auxin-mediated signalling show defects in the hypophyseal cell lineage. These include mutations in the CUL1/AXR6 gene (Hobbie et al. 2000; Hellmann et al. 2003) and the CUL3A and CUL3B genes (Thomann *et al.* 2005), which all encode CULLIN subunits of the auxin-regulated SCF^{TIR1} ubiquitin E3 ligase complex. Consistently, similar defects could be observed in tir1afb2afb3 embryos mutated in auxin-signalling F-box proteins (Dharmasiri et al. 2005). Interestingly, other multimeric complexes involved in protein degradation are important for proper hypophysis formation. The HOB-BIT (HBT) gene (Willemsen et al. 1998) encodes a homolog of a CDC27 anaphase-promoting complex (APC)/cyclosome subunit. The mutational defects become apparent around octant stage in which the uppermost suspensor cell divides vertically rather than horizontally. Later on, atypical divisions occur in the hypophyseal cell region. Postembryonically, hbt seedlings are characterized by a small embryonic root with no mitotic activity and with the absence of a differentiated lateral root cap. A detailed analysis of the hbt mutant using the expression of several pattern markers led Blilou et al. (2002) to conclude that it is more likely that HBT is required for progression of cell differentiation rather than for pattern formation. The defects in the *hbt* root meristem correlate with an accumulation of the Aux/IAA protein IAA17/AXR3 and a reduction of IAA3/SHY2, suggesting that an altered auxin response could be the reason for the developmental defects (Blilou et al. 2002; Serralbo et al. 2006). However using a mosaic analysis, in which inducible HOBBIT loss-of-function clones were generated by a Cre/ lox-mediated recombination, Serralbo et al. (2006) could demonstrate that the changes in auxin response occur well after the cell division and cell expansion defects. Since HBT encodes a subunit of the APC complex that regulates G2/M transition during the cell cycle, it clearly shows the involvement of the cell cycle in embryonic patterning. This relation could also be demonstrated by the characterization of the tilted1 mutant (Jenik et al. 2005). TILTED1 encodes the catalytic subunit of DNA-polymerase ε of Arabidopsis thaliana, necessary for DNA synthesis during the S phase of the cell cycle. Mutating this gene leads to a lengthening of the cell cycle throughout embryo development and alters cell type patterning of the hypophyseal lineage in the root.

Specification of the root stem cell niche

In the previous paragraphs we emphasized the importance of intact auxin responses and correct auxin distribution patterns to generate the PR axis during early embryogenesis. The obvious next question is: how are the auxin responses translated into cell patterns and QC formation that are essential to establish a fully functional RAM? During the last years, our insight into the mechanisms of pattern formation has increased seriously by the study of additional Arabidopsis mutants. The auxin accumulation seems to be interpreted by the hypophyseal derivatives through auxin-induced expression of the PLETHORA (PLT) genes. These genes encode putative AP2 (APETALA2)-type transcription factors and form a small subfamily within the large AP2/EREBP (ethylene-responsive element binding proteins) family. The PLT1 and PLT2 genes are expressed in the basal half of the proembryo as early as in the octant stage and their expression depends on the auxin response transcription factors MP/ARF5 and its homologue NPH4/ ARF7 (Aida et al. 2004). In the absence of both PLT1 and PLT2 function, the hypophyseal derivatives divide abnormally and fail to establish the QC (Aida et al. 2004), indicating that the PLT genes are essential for QC specification and stem cell activity. Very recent research results have revealed that PLT1 and PLT2 act redundantly with two other PLT homologues, PLT3 and BBM (BABY BOOM) (Galinha et al. 2007). When knocking-out the expression of all four genes of the PLT clade, quadruple mutants with no root and hypocotyl were obtained. These defects were initiated during early embryogenesis and mimic the defects observed in mutants impaired in auxin signalling or perception (see above). Interestingly the PLT genes also regulate PIN gene expression in the RAM thereby stabilizing and fine-tuning the position of the stem-cell-associated auxin maximum (Blilou et al. 2005; Galinha et al. 2007). However, besides auxin, additional positional information is needed to prepattern specific cell layers. This information is (at least partially) delivered by the auxin-independent expression of SHORT-ROOT (SHR) and SCARECROW (SCR) that encode members of the GRAS family of putative transcription factors. Both genes are essential for radial patterning from heart stage on, where SHR specifies endodermal cell fate and SCR controls the periclinal division of the cortex-endodermal initial cell (Scheres et al. 1995; Di Laurenzio et al. 1996; Helariutta et al. 2000; Wysocka-Diller et al. 2000). SHR is expressed exclusively in the provascular cells (vascular tissue in seedlings), but the protein moves to the surrounding endodermal cell layer including the QC where it promotes SCR transcription (Nakajima et al. 2001; Levesque et al. 2006). Very recently, it has been demonstrated that SCR and SHR interact in yeast and that the SHR/SCR complex acts as positive feedback mechanism for SCR transcription (Cui et al. 2007). Furthermore, SCR regulates the subcellular localisation and movement of SHR. SCR knock-down seedlings with still enough SCR to stimulate the SCR/SHR transcriptional network in the endodermis but not enough SCR to sequester SHR in the nucleus, have super-numerary endodermal cell layers and prove that SCR prevents SHR from moving to cell layers outside the endodermis by directing SHR to the nucleus. Although scr and *shr* mutants show no defects in apical-basal patterning during embryogenesis, SCR is cell-autonomously required for QC identity and stem cell specification during postembryonic root development (Sabatini et al. 2003; Heidstra et al. 2004). Interestingly, SCR expression in the stem cells of scr mutants is insufficient for their maintenance, suggesting that SCR activity in the QC is required to maintain the surrounding cells in a stem cell state (Sabatini et al. 2003). Since expression of SCR in the QC of shr mutants is also not sufficient to restore QC and stem cell identity (Sabatini et al. 2003), it is plausible that SHR also activates the still unknown short-range signal transmitted by the QC to the surrounding stem cells (see below). Through the generation of double and triple mutants, Aida et al. (2004) were able to show that the PLT genes act in parallel with the SCR/SHR pathway in such a way that the transcriptional overlap of the 3 putative transcription factors defines the QC cells. Consequently, ectopic embryonic expression of the *PLT* genes specifies new QC and stem cells in any position where SCR and SHR are expressed, resulting in extreme

situations such as the transformation of cotyledons and/or SAM to ectopic roots with fully active root meristems (Aida *et al.* 2004; Galinha *et al.* 2007).

In conclusion, the above mentioned recent findings make it possible for the first time to propose a model that describes a molecular network that controls the formation of the embryonic root. In this model, a PIN-mediated auxin maximum is instructive for the expression of the *PLT* genes that define the stem cell region in concert with SHR and SCR and in turn, control the root-specific *PIN* expression to stabilize the auxin maximum (Blilou *et al.* 2005).

Embryonic root formation in monocotyledonous plants

Our rapidly increasing insight into root development based on genetic studies is mainly restricted to Arabidopsis and thus dicot roots. Root formation in monocotyledonous embryos is however far less understood. Additionally, in some monocots such as maize, embryogenesis gives rise to additional roots besides the PR, generally referred to as seminal roots. The primordia of these roots are established in variable numbers at the scutellar node during the late phases of embryogenesis. In spite of the strong differences during embryogenesis and the morphological differences of Arabidopsis and cereal roots, several indications imply a conserved genetic mechanism for the establishment of at least the root radial organisation in monocots. Genes closely related to AtSCR have been identified in maize and rice (Lim et al. 2000; Kamiya et al. 2003; Lim et al. 2005; Cui et al. 2007) showing a similarly specific expression pattern in the endodermal cell layer of the PR, in the seminal roots of maize, in the post-embryonic crown and lateral roots as well as during embryogenesis (Zimmermann and Werr 2005). Moreover, *ZmSCR* expressed under the control of the native AtSCR promoter can rescue the patterning defects observed in Arabidopsis scr mutants (Lim et al. 2005). Recently, Cui et al. (2007) identified OsSHR1 as the functional homologue of AtSHR in rice and analogously to OsSCR1 and ZmSCR, it is expressed in the same tissues as their counterparts in Arabidopsis. Furthermore, in yeast OsSHR1 interacts with OsSCR1 as well as with AtSCR. Taken together, these recent findings imply an evolutionarily conserved SHR/SCR-regulated mechanism and might provide a plausible explanation for the occurrence of only one single endodermis layer in all Angiosperms (Cui et al. 2007). Besides the SHR/SCR signalling, the auxin signalling transduction mechanisms might also be well-conserved between monocot and dicot plants. A comparative study of the primary structures of Arabidopsis and rice ARF genes revealed that rice contains one or two closely related orthologous gene(s) corresponding to each respective Arabidopsis ARF, including MP (Sato et al. 2001). This suggests that the functions of the corresponding ARF proteins in Arabidopsis and rice may be similar to each other. Additionally using the radicleless1 (ral1) mutant, Scarpella et al. (2003) provided genetic evidence that auxin sensitivity is associated with embryonic root development in rice. In maize, Scanlon et al. (2002) could show that a reduction in polar auxin transport in the *semaphore1* (*sem1*) mutants affects embryo and lateral root development.

In contrast to the limited number of known auxin-related mutants, large numbers of mutants with specific defects in embryogenesis have been isolated and analysed in monocots (Clark and Sheridan 1991; Hong *et al.* 1995; Consonni *et al.* 2003; Scarpella *et al.* 2003; Kinae *et al.* 2005). These mutants are commonly classified as *emb* (embryo-specific), for mutants characterised by an impaired or arrested embryo development and a normal endosperm, and as *dek* (defective kernel) when impaired in both endosperm and embryo and, less frequently, only in endosperm development. A few mutants showing abnormal seedling and plant morphology, in which defects can be traced back to earlier events occurring during embryogenesis, have also been identified (Dolfini *et al.* 1999; Landoni *et al.* 2000) and are referred to as *des* (defective seedling). However to our knowledge, genes corresponding to these mutants have not been identified so far. In the future, identification of the corresponding genes will make it possible to compare the formation of the embryonic roots of dicots and monocots in more detail at the molecular level.

POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT GROWTH

Physiological control of root meristem maintenance

Post-embryonic root growth is supported by the root apical meristem (RAM). In the meristem, stem cells continuously produce daughter cells by asymmetric cell divisions, and once the daughter cells leave the meristematic zone they support root growth by cell elongation. The organizing auxin maximum at the root stem cell niche installed during embryogenesis, is maintained throughout post-embryonic development and was shown to be critical for post-embryonic root meristem maintenance in Arabidopsis (Sabatini et al. 1999). Sabatini et al. (1999) showed that the stem cell niche in the Arabidopsis root nicely coincides with an auxin response maximum and that the latter is required for correct specification of root cell fates. A reduction or displacement of the auxin gradient causes dramatic changes in patterning of the root tip (Sabatini et al. 1999; Benjamins et al. 2001; Friml et al. 2002), whereas increasing the auxin maximum by treatment with polar auxin transport inhibitors induces ectopic QC formation (Sabatini et al. 1999). Immunolocalisation of auxin in maize roots revealed that the root cap and QC contained relatively higher levels of auxin (IAA) than the immediately surrounding cells arguing for the existence of a similar mechanism in monocot roots (Kerk and Feldman 1995).

During post-embryonic plant growth, auxin is mainly produced by the aerial parts of the plant, especially in young developing leaves, but also in the RAM and in young lateral roots (Ljung et al. 2001, 2005). However, the synthesis capacity in the root tip, although significant, is not high enough to maintain the organizing auxin gradient in the root tip especially during early seedling development (Ljung et al. 2005). Therefore IAA derived from the shoot is transported to the root tip by means of a complex interacting network of influx and efflux systems. Transmembrane proteins of the AUX1/LAX family were shown to be part of the influx system (Bennett et al. 1996; Swarup et al. 2001; Yang et al. 2006), whereas the PIN proteins (see above) were shown to mediate auxin efflux (Paponov et al. 2005). In Arabidopsis, at least five PIN proteins are expressed in specific but partially overlapping regions of the RAM (Paponov et al. 2005) and by means of their asymmetric subcellular localisation patterns they are able to give directionality to auxin transport (Wisniewska et al. 2006) leading to the establishment of auxin maxima. Also in other species PIN genes were identified, such as ZmPIN1a and ZmPIN1b in maize (Carraro et al. 2006) and OsPIN1 in rice (Xu et al. 2005). Over the last years, a group of ABC transporters belonging to the multidrug resistant (MDR)-like family also known as the P-glycoproteins (PGPs), emerged as new players in the cellular efflux and influx of auxin (Noh et al. 2001; Blakeslee et al. 2005; Geisler et al. 2005; Terasaka et al. 2005). Loss-of-function mutations in several PGP genes cause diverse developmental defects that are related to altered auxin signalling and/or distribution, and some show aberrant polar auxin transport and altered auxin uptake or efflux from leaf protoplasts (Noh et al. 2001; Geisler et al. 2005; Santelia et al. 2005; Terasaka et al. 2005; Lewis et al. 2007). However these developmental aberrations are often distinct from those found in *pin* mutants or those induced by the chemical inhibition of auxin transport, suggesting that PGPs potentially have additional, unknown functions that might be unrelated to auxin transport. On the other hand in heterologous systems such as yeast or mammalian HeLa cells, some PGPs are capable of transporting different auxins across the plasma membrane out of the cell (PGP1/ PGP19) or into it (PGP4) (Geisler et al. 2005; Santelia et al 2005; Terasaka et al. 2005), and these data are at least as convincing as those obtained for the PINs. Mutations in PGP genes have been identified in maize (brachytic2/ *zmpgp1*), sorghum (*dwarf3/sbpgp1*) and rice (Multani *et al.* 2003; Geisler and Murphy 2006), demonstrating a conserved role for the PGP proteins. Until now the relation between the PGPs and PINs is still unclear. Although it was shown that PIN1 action on plant development does not strictly require function of PGP1 and PGP19 (Petrasek et al. 2006), it is likely that the different auxin transport systems are coordinated and functionally interact. Recently it was demonstrated that PINs and PGPs can interact with each other and that PGP proteins act synergistically with PIN proteins in transporting auxin (Blakeslee et al. 2007). One possible explanation is that PGP proteins increase the stability of the PIN proteins on the plasma membranes (Noh et al. 2003; Petrasek et al. 2006; Blakeslee et al. 2007). Stability and composition of the plasma membrane is indeed important for correct polar auxin transport as could be demonstrated by a mutation in STEROL METHYL TRANS-FERASE1 (SMT). The corresponding orc mutant is characterised by defective pattern formation from embryogenesis on, mostly by an affected polar localization of PIN proteins (Willemsen et al. 2003). SMT1 encodes an enzyme that is involved in the production of membrane sterols, highlighting that a balanced sterol composition of the plasma membrane is a major requirement in polar targeting of PIN proteins.

In the root, the shoot-derived auxin is transported through the vascular and provascular cells towards the tip by the combined action of PIN1, PIN3 and PIN7 (Fig. 4). Then, PIN4 delivers the auxin to the central columella cells where the combined action of PIN3, PIN4 and PIN7 maintain the position of the auxin maximum and redistribute auxin laterally. PIN2 together with the influx carrier AUX1 (see above) then stimulates acropetal transport through the epidermis towards the elongation zone where auxin can be reloaded into the vascular system facilitated by PIN1, PIN2, PIN3 and PIN7 (Fig. 4). This auxin reflux loop is not only essential to maintain the auxin maximum at the stem cell niche, but recently Blilou et al. (2005) could show that the root meristem size of all double and triple mutants containing pin2 was significantly reduced. This suggests that basipetal auxin transport to the meristematic cells plays a critical role in the regulation of meristem length and thus in root growth, and that control of cell division is a major factor in this process (Blilou et al. 2005). Moreover Blilou et al. (2005) could show that the PIN proteins also regulate cell expansion and the size of the root elongation zone. These observations match perfectly with very recent data obtained by Galinha et al. (2007) and Grieneisen et al. (2007). Grieneisen et al. (2007) developed a model for polar auxin transport during root growth and hypothesised that the wellknown auxin maxima are in fact associated with auxin gradients (such as the auxin maximum at the stem cell niche of the PR reflects the maximum of an auxin gradient throughout the PR meristem). Intriguingly Galinha et al. (2007) showed that during post-embryonic root development the *PLT* genes and homologues (see above) display gradients in both promoter activity and protein concentration making them good candidates to represent a readout of the root auxin gradient. Interestingly, the PLT gradients are translated into distinct cellular responses. The highest PLT activity coincides with the auxin maximum in the stem cell area and promotes stem cell identity and maintenance. The gradients fade out throughout the meristem where these lower levels promote the mitotic activity of the meristematic cells. Indeed when overexpressing *PLT2* in the root, the meristem size highly increased while a reduction of the PLT gradient reduced the meristem size (Galinha et al. 2007). Ultimately the concentration gradient ends in the elongation zone where very low PLT protein levels lead to cell differentiation. Based on their results, Galinha et al. (2007) state



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of polar auxin transport in the RAM. In the root, the shoot-derived auxin is transported through the vascular and provascular cells towards the root tip by the combined action of PIN1, PIN3 and PIN7. Then, PIN4 delivers the auxin to the central columella cells where the combined action of PIN3, PIN4 and PIN7 maintain the position of the auxin maximum and redistribute auxin laterally. PIN2 then stimulates acropetal transport through the epidermis towards the elongation zone where auxin can be reloaded into the vascular system facilitated by PIN1, PIN2, PIN3 and PIN7.

that the PLT proteins act through auxin as dose-dependent master regulators of root development in *Arabidopsis*.

Molecular control of root meristem maintenance

Laser ablation studies have demonstrated that the OC cells generate short-range signals that prevent differentiation of their neighbouring stem cells (van den Berg et al. 1997). Moreover it has been demonstrated that during regeneration of the root tip after surgical excision (Feldman 1976; Rost and Jones 1988) or laser ablation of the QC (Xu et al. 2006), the reformation of a QC precedes and is essential for the organisation of the new RAM. Until now the mysterious signals transmitted by the QC remain unknown. However, the ongoing stem cell research of the SAM during the last decade lifted a tip of the veil. In Arabidopsis shoot meristems, control of the size and positioning of the stem cell niche is controlled by a two-way signalling between the organizing centre and overlying stem cells. Stem cells produce a small, secreted protein CLAVATA3 (CLV3) that activates the CLV1/CLV2 receptor complex in turn controlling the size of the organizing centre by transcriptional inhibition of WUSCHEL (WUS) (Laux 2003). Interestingly, root

meristem-specific overexpression of CLE19, which encodes a CLV3 homolog, reduces the size of the root meristem and ultimately the root meristem differentiates (Casamitjana-Martinez *et al.* 2003; Fiers *et al.* 2004). These root defects are not due to a misspecification of the QC or a loss of initials, but to a defect in meristem maintenance (Casamitjana-Martinez *et al.* 2003). The same results could also be obtained by ectopic expression of CLV3 and CLE40 (Hobe *et al.* 2003) and strongly argue for a role of a CLV-like pathway in root meristem maintenance. By *in vitro* application of CLV3, CLE19 and CLE40 peptides and the use of *clv* mutants, Fiers *et al.* (2005) proposed a model in which the CLE peptides interact with or saturate a CLV2 receptor complex in roots, leading to consumption of the root meristem.

More evidence for an equivalent regulation of stem cell identity in the RAM and SAM is provided by the functional analysis of the WOX genes (Haecker et al. 2004). WOX or WUS-related homeobox genes show a very distinct expression pattern during embryogenesis. One member, WOX5, is auxin-inducible (Gonzali et al. 2005) and is expressed very early in the hypophyseal cell (Sarkar et al. 2007). WOX5 expression marks the identity of the QC from embryogenesis on (Haecker et al. 2004; Sarkar et al. 2007) throughout post-embryogenic development (Blilou et al. 2005; Sarkar et al. 2007). Promoter swapping experiments have demonstrated that the expression of WOX5 under control of the WUS promoter can rescue the stem cell defects in the wus mutant and, vice versa, QC specific expression of WUS can compensate for the loss of WOX5 function (Sarkar et al. 2007). In rice, Kamiya et al. (2003) identified a QC-specific homeobox gene (QHB), which is closely related to AtWOX5 (Haecker et al. 2004). Similarly to AtWOX5, in rice QHB is specifically expressed in the central cells of the QC of the root and could first be detected in the basal region of the embryo prior to the morphological differentiation of the radicle (Kamiya *et al.* 2003). Expression of *AtWOX5* is predominantly regulated by the SHR/SCR pathway, identifying WOX5 as one of the downstream effectors of the SHR/SCR signalling pathway in stem cell maintenance. The function of this QC marker was unknown for a long time, but very recently Sarkar et al. (2007) could demonstrate that AtWOX5 inhibits the differentiation of the root stem cells. Loss of WOX5 function causes terminal differentiation of the columella stem cells, while gain of function blocks differentiation as could be demonstrated by an indefinite number of columella stem cells. Furthermore, this block of differentiation is independent from any further QC signalling, and as such WOX5 might provide us with a tool to identify the unknown short-range factor(s) transmitted from the QC to the stem cells (van den Berg et al. 1997). Most likely WOX5 activates downstream signals in the QC, which then move to the stem cell population to inhibit their differentiation. However, since cellular localisation data of the WOX5 protein is not available until now (Sarkar et al. 2007), the WOX5 protein could also move to the stem cells and could be the mysterious signal itself.

POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION

As the PR grows, lateral roots (LRs) will emerge from the PR shortly after germination. The process of LR formation has been well studied in many plants, including *Arabidopsis*, and multiple studies have shown that auxin is a key regulator of LR formation and development (Blakely *et al.* 1982; Laskowski *et al.* 1995; Casimiro *et al.* 2001; Benkova *et al.* 2003). It is well established that exogenous application as well as overproduction of auxin leads to supernumerary LRs (Boerjan *et al.* 1995; Celenza *et al.* 1995; King *et al.* 1995), while auxin transport inhibitors block LR initation (Casimiro *et al.* 2001).

Lateral roots originate from the pericycle cells adjacent to the xylem pole in most dicotyledonous plants or to the phloem pole in monocotyledonous plants and some dicotyledonous species (Casero *et al.* 1995; Lloret and Casero 2002; Feix et al. 2002). LRs emerge in an acropetal order, with longer LRs at the most basal region and progressively shorter LRs toward the PR tip, and are spaced along the main axis in a regular left-right alternating pattern. Interfering with the root vascular initials can have dramatic consequences for LR formation. In the Arabidopsis lonesome highway (lhw) mutant, PR and LRs produce only one instead of 2 files of xylem, phloem and LR producing pericycle cells. This results in a root system with LRs from only one side of the PR (Ohashi-Ito and Bergmann 2007). LHW encodes a member of a novel, plant-specific family of putative transcription factors in *Arabidopsis* but interestingly is also represented in the monocot rice. Additionally lhw is not able to maintain the RAM, fails to express SCR in the QC and thus illustrates the close relationship between PR and LR development. In the next paragraphs we will describe post-embryonic root development and will highlight the parallel mechanisms that might exist between embryonic and post-embryonic root development.

Building a lateral root meristem

Besides the importance of auxin, remarkable morphological similarities can be seen when comparing LR (post-embryonic) with PR (embryonic) formation. Similar to embryogenesis, the first recognisable hallmark of LR formation is the appearance of an asymmetric cell division event. Two pericycle founder cells within the same cell file undergo almost simultaneously an asymmetric transverse/anticlinal division yielding two short cells flanked by two longer ones (Malamy and Benfey 1997; Dubrovsky et al. 2000; Casimiro et al. 2001; Casimiro et al. 2003). This division pattern can be viewed microscopically (Fig. 5), is referred to as 'initiation' and has been reported from several plant species (Casero et al. 1995). Based on DR5-GUS marker studies in Arabidopsis that are indicative for auxin distribution patterns at the tissue level, it was proposed that auxin might accumulate in the pericycle founder cells prior to the formative asymmetric divisions (Benkova et al. 2003). Still in Arabidopsis, once initiation has occurred, the founder cells begin a wellconserved program of cell divisions orchestrated by PINdependent auxin transport to form an LR primordium (Malamy and Benfey 1997; Casimiro et al. 2001; Benkova et al. 2003). Although PIN1, PIN3, PIN4, PIN6, and PIN7 are all expressed during the earliest developmental stages, only a detailed localisation study of PIN1 is available until now (Benkova et al. 2003). While after the first round of asymmetric division the short daughter cells continue to divide anticlinally, thereby creating a group of maximum 10 short cells with similar length, PIN1 localises exclusively to the transverse (anticlinal) sides of the daughter cells creating an auxin maximum in the central cells. These central daughter cells expand radially and divide periclinally, giving rise to a stage II primordium composed of an inner and an outer cell layers. During stage III and IV, both the outer and inner layers divide further periclinally and anticlinally giving a four-cell layered primordium (Malamy and Benfey 1997) (Fig. 5). Cell division activity is high in the centre of the developing primordia while some peripheral cells of the outer cell layer do not divide. This gradient in cell division activity with a maximum in the centre and decreasing towards the periphery is interpreted to be essential in creating and maintaining the shape of the primordium. From stage II on, PIN1 polarity is redirected from the transverse to the lateral sides of the central cells of the primordium, providing auxin from the PR vasculature to the primordium tip where it accumulates in the central cells of the outer layers (Benkova et al. 2003). Comparable to early embryogenesis (prior to triangular/heart stage), the LR primordium consists of a homogenous group of dividing cells without visible morphological differentiation. At stage V two central cells, one in each of the two outer layers divide anticlinally to form four small cubical cells. Simultaneously the cells of the inner layers enlarge radially and divide periclinally pushing the overlying layers through the parent root. During



Fig. 5 Lateral root initiation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Left: Schematic representation of LR initiation. Lateral roots originate from pericycle cells adjacent to the xylem poles. Right: Different developmental stages during LR initiation. Black arrows indicate existing cell walls; white arrows indicate new cell divisions. Numbers refer to stages described in Malamy and Benfey (1997).

stage VI, the LR primordium begins its transformation from a layered primordium to a well-organised structure with a cellular pattern that mimics that of a mature PR tip. The four central cells divide periclinally by which the columella root cap is created, and as a result of a periclinal division of the second outer layer, three outer cell layers are laid down corresponding to epidermis, cortex and endodermis. The cells in the core of the LR primordium elongate, and obtain the elongated shape characteristic of provascular elements (Malamy and Benfey 1997). From stage V on, the auxin gradient at the primordium tip is established by combined action of differentially expressed and localised PIN proteins, mirroring the PIN localisation pattern of the PR. At stage VII, the primordium enlarges and is about to emerge from the parent root. LR emergence could be regarded as analogous to germination, as in both cases (LR and PR) once the organisation is established, there is a period during which growth is driven primarily by cell expansion. After this period, the meristem is activated and the newly autonomous root begins to grow via asymmetric divisions of the root stem cells. Thus morphologically and physiologically, the initiation, development, and emergence of the LR primordium and the subsequent activation of the LR meristem appear to be highly similar with the developmental mechanisms of embryogenesis.

Nonetheless the functional redundancy within the PIN family, single *pin* mutants already showed significant changes in the number of initiated LRs as well as a retarded emergence stage (Benkova *et al.* 2003). Auxin-treated multiple *pin* mutants were not able anymore to develop an LR primordium, instead these mutant seedlings produced a multi-layered pericycle without any trace of primordium formation. The same effects could be observed in wild-type seedlings treated with auxin transport inhibitors or in weak *gnom* mutants (Geldner *et al.* 2004), demonstrating that PIN-mediated auxin efflux is essential for primordium development.

Auxin signalling during lateral root formation

Over the years, it has been shown that mutations in auxin signalling affect LR formation (for review see Fukaki *et al.*

2005b). From the specification of the pericycle founder cell on, members of the Aux/IAA and ARF family translate the auxin accumulation into the expression of auxin-responsive genes. Among all reported genes of which the mutants show altered LR formation, SLR (IAA14), ARF7, and ARF19 have been shown to play a prominent role during LR initiation (Fukaki et al. 2002; Okushima et al. 2005). IAA14 is expressed in the pericycle and a dominant mutant version of the IAA14 protein has the ability to constitutively block LR initiation. Furthermore, IAA14 was shown to interact with ARF7 and ARF19 in a yeast two-hybrid screen (Fukaki et al. 2005a) and consistently the double mutant arf7arf19 displays the same phenotype as *slr* (i.e. no LR formation) (Okushima et al. 2005a). These results indicate that SLR and ARF7/ARF19 mediate together the auxin-responsive gene transcription during LR initiation. Interestingly this auxin-signalling event is highly similar to the central role of BDL/IAA12 and MP/ARF5 during hypophysis formation. In this context, one can question whether the different Aux/ IAA-ARF interactions really differ in function and do not solely rely on transcriptional regulation. Apparently, the specificity of the cellular auxin response is indeed dependent on the expression profiles of the ARF and Aux/IAA genes because ectopic expression of stabilised IAA14/SLR during embryogenesis, results in mp- and bdl-like embryos (H. Fukaki, pers. comm.). However, Weijers et al. (2005) could show that optimised pairs of interacting ARF and Aux/IAA proteins increase the specificity of the response.

Patterning during lateral root formation

The initiation of LRs is marked by specific cell divisions in the pericycle. However, although auxin stimulates the cell cycle, the formation of a new meristem is far more complex than a simple activation of the cell cycle machinery in the pericycle founder cells. Overexpression of *CYCD3;1* (*CYCD3;1*^{OE}) in the non-LR forming *slr* mutant, did not result in LR formation (Vanneste *et al.* 2005). Although, in some regions pericycle cells were shorter than wild-type pericycle cells, indicative for an extra round of cell division, the divided pericycle cells were found in long stretches differing fundamentally from normal LR initiation sites where the region of cell division is much more restricted to a small group of cells. Furthermore no stage II primordia could be observed in the CYCD3; 1^{OE} x slr roots. Thus, although auxin-induced cell division of the pericyle founder cells could be complemented in the CYCD3; $1^{OE} \times slr$ roots, additional auxin-dependent mechanisms are required for normal LR formation. Unfortunately not so much is known about cell specification during LR development. Nevertheless, it is likely that LR formation and embryogenesis share, besides the importance of auxin, comparable mechanisms for pattern formation. SCR expression could be demonstrated from a stage II LR primordium on (Malamy and Benfey 1997) and consistent with this, LRs of the radial pattern mutants scr and shr show the same patterning defects as during embryogenesis (Scheres et al. 1995). The QC-specifying and auxin-inducible PLT genes are ex-pressed already in the pericycle founder cells (Aida *et al.* 2004). In the CYCD3; I^{OE} x *slr* roots, *PLT1* expression was highly rex slr roots, PLT1 expression was highly reduced, again highlighting the functionality of a SLR-dependent auxin signalling to establish a correctly patterned LR primordium (Vanneste et al. 2005). Furthermore, mutations in the HOBBIT gene lead to short LRs that display the same patterning defects as the PR (Willemsen et al. 1998), indicating that LR pattern formation can be seen as a replay of embryonic pattern formation.

Priming of pericycle founder cells occurs in primary root meristem

Since long, LRs have been considered to develop from newly formed meristems initiated from differentiated pericycle cells (Laskowski et al. 1995; Malamy and Benfey 1997). However the onset of LR formation from apparently fully differentiated cells is in sharp contrast to the embryogenic origin of the PR and has been a point of controversy for many root biologists. In the last years, experimental evidence is accumulating that argues against this dedifferentiation concept and instead stands up for a meristematic character for the pericycle cells (Dubrovsky et al. 2000; Beeckman et al. 2001; Casimiro et al. 2003). In an attempt to get insight into the pre-mitotic events of LR initiation, De Smet et al. (2007) focussed on the basal meristem, a zone between the meristem and the elongation zone. As mentioned above, the basal meristem has been proposed to recycle auxin coming from the root tip via the root cap (Blilou et al. 2005). De Smet et al. (2007) could demonstrate that the auxin-responsive DR5 promoter shows a rhythmic expression in the basal meristem with a periodicity that matches the rate of LR initiation. A model was proposed in which the pericycle cells, which later on will be activated in the differentiation zone to form LRs, are already triggered in the basal meristem. Furthermore this priming correlates with the gravitropic response-mediated waving of the PR which in turn is controlled by AUX1-mediated basipetal auxin transport. Consistently the left-right altering pattern of the LRs is completely disturbed in the *aux1* mutant. De Smet *et* al. (2007) could also show that the priming of pericycle founder cells is independent of IAA14/SLR, opening the quest for the Aux/IAA-ARF interacting partners necessary for the very first checkpoint towards LR formation.

Evidence for a pre-initiation of the pericyle cells in the PR meristem was also delivered by Horiguchi *et al.* (2003). The mutant rfc3-1 (regulator of fatty acid composition) forms normal LRs but when germinating under a high sucrose condition (3% sucrose) the LR primordia show severe patterning defects from stage VI on. These LR primordia show no columella root cap initial activity, lack a structurally distinct QC and, after emergence, the top portion of the LR terminally differentiates into root hairs. *RFC3* encodes a plastid protein with weak homology to prokaryotic ribosomal subunit S6 (Horiguchi *et al.* 2003). Interestingly, Horiguchi *et al.* (2003) found that the sucrose concentration in which the PR is growing determines the patterning of LR primordia, suggesting the existence of a sucrose-sensitive priming mechanism in the RAM which is essential for LR

patterning.

Shoot-borne root formation

In monocots, the PR appears to be essential for the growth at the seedling stage only. At later stages of development, the growth of the PR usually stops and post-embryonic shoot-borne roots start to develop and gradually determine the morphology of the fibrous root system (Fig. 1) (Feix *et al.* 2002). The shoot-borne crown roots are formed in variable numbers at underground stem nodes and initiate at the inner cell layer of the nodes. When formed from the aboveground nodes, such roots are designated as brace roots (Feix *et al.* 2002). In dicotyledonous plants, such as *Arabidopsis*, shoot-borne root formation is rare but can occasionally occur in hypocotyls or stems in response to exogenous factors like wounding or darkness. Since these roots are not developmentally regulated, they are referred to as adventitious instead of shoot-borne roots.

As mentioned above, auxins are plant hormones that regulate almost every aspect of plant growth and development including shoot-borne root formation. As a consequence, mutants impaired in auxin transport or signalling affect shoot-borne root formation as well. OsPIN1 RNAi transgenic plants show a highly decreased crown root emergence and development, which was similar to the phenotype of NPA-treated wild-type plants (Xu et al. 2005). Consistently, OsPINOID-overexpression lines are characterized by a delayed shoot-borne root development (Morita and Kyozuka 2007). The rice genome contains 24 Aux/IAA genes and transgenic plants overexpressing a stabilized form of OsIAA3 showed typical auxin-insensitive phenotypes as a reduced crown and LR formation as well as a reduced root length of seminal, crown and LRs (Nakamura et al. 2006). Furthermore, crl1 (crown rootless) and arl1 (adventitious rootless), both mutated in the auxin-inducible CRL1 gene, are defective in shoot-borne root formation and crl1 shows also a 70% reduction in LR formation (Inukai et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2005). CRL1 encodes an AS2 (asymmetric leaves 2)/LOB (lateral organ boundaries) domain transcription factor and a detailed analysis revealed that CRL1 is a member of an early auxin-response family under direct control of an ARF in the auxin signalling pathway (Inukai et al. 2005). Since the auxin-inducible expression of CRL1 is inhibited in OsIAA3-overexpressing plants (Nakamura et al. 2006), it is likely that OsIAA3 together with a still unidentified OsARF regulate auxin-inducible crown root formation through the LOB transcription factor CLR1. Interestingly also in maize, the LOB-domain transcription factors RTCS (rootless concerning crown and seminal roots) and RTCL (RTCS-LIKE), are auxin-responsive genes involved in shoot-borne root formation (Hetz et al. 1996; Taramino et al. 2007). Additionally, in *rtcs* and *rtcl* mutants seminal root formation is also compromised and the only root that remains unaffected is the PR (Hetz et al. 1996). It will be very interesting to further examine the putative role of the LOB genes in root development, since the family is represented in other plant species including Arabidopsis (Yang et al. 2006). Recently, Okushima et al. (2007) identified the homologues of CRL1 in Arabidopsis. AtLBD16 and AtLBD29 were described as being the direct regulatory targets of ARF7 and ARF19 during LR initiation. Overexpression of AtLBD16 and AtLBD29 rescues LR formation of the arf7arf19 mutant and dominant repression of LBD16 activity inhibits LR formation and auxin-mediated gene expression (Okushima et al. 2007).

As described above, rice *QHB* expression was observed during embryogenesis and crown root formation, prior to the morphological differentiation of the root. However, different *QHB* expression patterns were detected between primary and crown root formation during development of the respective root meristems in rice. This might suggest that cell-fate determination of the QC may be controlled by different mechanisms depending on the root type (Kamiya *et al.* 2003). Several other mutants with a reduced number of shootborne roots have been identified over the last years (*rt1*: Jenkins *et al.* 1930; *crl2*: Inukai *et al.* 2001) but the corresponding genes are not identified until now.

Lateral root formation in monocotyledonous plants

As in dicotyledonous plants, in monocots LRs initiate from pericycle cells but, in contrast to dicots, initiation happens preferentially at the phloem poles. Also in contrast to dicots, the endodermal cells are involved by forming the epidermis and columella of the newly formed LRs (Bell and McCully 1970; Feix et al. 2002). LRs are formed on all root types in maize and rice, having a great influence on the architecture of the root system. Interestingly, characterisation of two maize mutants suggests that LR initiation in embryonic and post-embryonic roots are differently regulated. Both the lateral rootless (lrt1) (Hochholdinger and Feix 1998) and the rootless with undetectable meristems (rum1) (Woll et al. 2005) mutants are completely deficient in the initiation of LRs from the embryonic primary and seminal roots, while the shoot-borne root system shows normal LR formation. Additionally, *lrt1* lacks crown roots at the first node and rum1 is deficient in embryonic seminal root initiation. A detailed analysis revealed that the *rum1* mutation leads to a reduced polar auxin transport in the PR but also to a reduced sensitivity of the pericycle towards auxin, suggesting a pleiotropic regulatory function for RUM1 in respect to auxin action (Woll et al. 2005). The LR-deficient slr mutant also shows a reduced auxin sensitivity and a reduction in auxin transport in Arabidopsis. Therefore one could hypothesise that RUM1 could be involved in the primary auxin response in maize and would therefore represent the acting representative for the Arabidopsis IAA14. However since rum1 is a loss-of-function mutation, RUM1 is most likely not a member of the Aux/IAA family.

Also in rice, auxin-sensitivity mutants were isolated. *arm1* and *arm2* were identified as being resistant to the synthetic auxin 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) and show a variety of morphological defects, including reduced LR formation (Chhun *et al.* 2003). Recently, Wang *et al.* (2006) isolated a novel lateral-rootless mutant in rice, *lrt2*, which is resistant to 2,4-D but also to NAA, IAA and IBA. Furthermore, the complete lack of LRs could not be rescued by exogenous auxin and molecular comparison with the *Arabidopsis* lateral rootless mutant *slr/iaa14*, led Wang *et al.* (2006) to hypothesise that the *LRT1* gene is a novel gene required for auxin-mediated LR formation that has not been reported in *Arabidopsis* yet.

IS POST-EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION IDENTICAL TO EMBRYONIC ROOT FORMATION?

Both developmentally and genetically, the similarities between the PR and LRs are striking. An asymmetric division controlled by efflux-dependent auxin transport initiates the process and a subsequent controlled cell division and patterning program establishes a highly organised structure where later on the meristematic initials are set aside. The patterning genes *PLT*, *SCR* and *SHR*, responsible for the embryonic root stem cell niche formation, are also expressed during the early stages of LR development and mutants show the same patterning defects in both root meristems. Moreover, these mechanisms seem to be at least partially conserved in monocotyledonous plants. This could be shown by a detailed expression analysis of *SCR* and *SHR* in maize and rice and by a complete rescue of the *Arabidopsis* patterning defects with the maize *SCR* gene.

However, it seems that there are differences between embryonic and post-embryonic roots. Overexpression of the *Arabidopsis* serine-threonine kinase *PINOID* induces a basal-to-apical shift of PIN localisation, which results in a reduced auxin accumulation in the PR tip, thereby causing the loss of stem cell identity and eventually the terminal differentiation of the RAM (Benjamins et al. 2001; Friml et al. 2004). The basal-to-apical shift of the PIN proteins could also be observed in LR meristems, however the latter remained functional, showed normal patterning and did not collapse. The reason for these differences is still unclear. It could be due to increased auxin biosynthesis in LR meristems or alternatively, to the different origin of PR and LR meristems (Friml et al. 2004). mp seedlings that lack a PR due to hypophysis misspecification, can be stimulated by injuring to form roots from the hypocotyl. Surprisingly, these adventitious roots develop normally (Przemeck et al. 1996; Hardtke and Berleth 1998). In maize, the characterisation of the *lrt1* and *rum1* mutants indicated that LR initiation in embryonic and post-embryonic roots are differently regulated (Hochholdinger and Feix 1998; Woll et al. 2005), which in turn is indicative for the existence of alternative root developing programs in embryonic and postembryonic roots.

PERSPECTIVES OF GENOME-WIDE ANALYSIS OF ROOT FORMATION GENES

Over the last years, tremendous efforts have been made to analyse all aspects of root development in a genome-wide perspective. Nowadays cell sorting and laser capture microdissection (LCM) allow the isolation of specific root cell types. When combining these isolation strategies with micro-array analysis, very reliable expression maps can be obtained for specific cell types during root development. LCM together with micro-array analysis was applied to isolate and profile different domains of embryos during the globular, heart and torpedo stages (Spencer et al. 2007). Using cell sorting on five GFP-expressing lines representing specific cell layers Birnbaum et al. (2003) succeeded in making a gene expression map of the Arabidopis root. A few years later, the paper was followed by a transcript profiling of Arabidopsis QC cells (Nawy et al. 2005). Although transcript profiling using the LR-deficient arf7arf19 and slr mutants identified specific subsets of genes involved in LR development (Okushima et al. 2005; Vanneste et al. 2005), such an expression map is until now not available for LRs. By comparing available and future expression data, we will increase our understanding of parallel mechanisms between embryonic and post-embryonic root development.

Also in maize, LCM has been used in order to study differential gene expression between epidermal cells and vascular tissue (Nakazono *et al.* 2003) and between pericycle transcripts of wild-type and that of the LR initiation defective *rum1* mutant (Woll *et al.* 2005). More recently, Dembinsky *et al.* (2007) compared gene expression and protein accumulation in cell-cycle-competent PR pericycle cells of maize prior to their first division and LR initiation.

In this review we have summarized the molecular networks controlling root development in monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plants. Although the huge morphological differences between both root systems, it can be concluded that the basic molecular mechanisms controlling root development are far more conserved than expected. Further transcriptome-wide analyses of specific mutants on a celltype-specific level will ultimately uncover the degree of conservation of the functional networks between monocots and dicotyledonous plants.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank former and present colleagues of the Root Development Group at the PSB department for the fruitful environment and the many exchanges of thoughts over the years. Part of the research was supported by a grant from the University Poles of Attraction Programme – Belgian Science Policy.

REFERENCES

- Aida M, Beis D, Heidstra R, Willemsen V, Blilou I, Galinha C, Nussaume L, Noh YS, Amasino R, Scheres B (2004) The PLETHORA genes mediate patterning of the Arabidopsis root stem cell niche. Cell 119, 109-120
- Barlow PW (2002) Cellular patterning in root meristems: Its origins and significance. In: Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U (Eds) *Plant Roots: The Hidden Half* (3rd Edn), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 49-82
- Beeckman T, Burssens S, Inzé D (2001) The peri-cell-cycle in Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany 52, 403-411
- Bell JK, McCully ME (1970) A histological study of lateral root initiation and development in Zea mays. Protoplasma 70, 179-205
- Benjamins R, Quint A, Weijers D, Hooykaas P, Offringa R (2001) The PINOID protein kinase regulates organ development in Arabidopsis by enhancing polar auxin transport. *Development* 128, 4057-4067
- Benkova E, Michniewicz M, Sauer M, Teichmann T, Seifertova D, Jürgens C, Friml J (2003) Local, efflux-dependent auxin gradients as a common module for plant organ formation. *Cell* 115, 591-602
- Bennett MJ, Marchant A, Green HG, May ST, Ward SP, Millner PA, Walker AR, Schulz B, Feldmann KA (1996) Arabidopsis AUX1 gene: A permease-like regulator of root gravitropism. Science 273, 948-950
- Birnbaum K, Shasha DE, Wang JY, Jung JW, Lambert GM, Galbraith DW, Benfey PN (2003) A gene expression map of the Arabidopsis root. *Science* 302, 1956-1960
- Blakely LM, Durham M, Evans TA, Blakely RM (1982) Experimental studies on lateral root formation in radish seedling roots. 1. General methods, developmental stages, and spontaneous formation of laterals. *Botanical Gazette* 143, 341-352
- Blakeslee JJ, Bandyopadhyay A, Lee OR, Mravec J, Titapiwatanakun B, Sauer M, Makam SN, Cheng Y, Bouchard R, Adamec J, Geisler M, Nagashima A, Sakai T, Martinoia E, Friml J, Peer WA, Murphy AS (2007) Interactions among PIN-FORMED and P-glycoprotein auxin transporters in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 19, 131-147
- Blakeslee JJ, Peer WA, Murphy AS (2005) Auxin transport. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 8, 494-500
- Blilou I, Frugier F, Folmer S, Serralbo O, Willemsen V, Wolkenfelt H, Eloy NB, Ferreira PCG, Weisbeek P, Scheres B (2002) The Arabidopsis *HOB-BIT* gene encodes a CDC27 homolog that links the plant cell cycle to progression of cell differentiation. *Genes and Development* **16**, 2566-2575
- Blilou I, Xu J, Wildwater M, Willemsen V, Paponov I, Friml J, Heidstra R, Aida M, Palme K, Scheres B (2005) The PIN auxin efflux facilitator network controls growth and patterning in Arabidopsis roots. *Nature* 433, 39-44
- Boerjan W, Cervera MT, Delarue M, Beeckman T, Dewitte W, Bellini C, Caboche M, Van Onckelen H, Van Montagu M, Inzé D (1995) superroot, a recessive mutation in Arabidopsis, confers auxin overproduction. *Plant Cell* 7, 1405-1419
- Canon WA (1949) A tentative classification of root systems. *Ecology* **30**, 542-548
- Carraro N, Forestan C, Canova S, Traas J, Varotto S (2006) *ZmPIN1a* and *ZmPIN1b* encode two novel putative candidates for polar auxin transport and plant architecture determination of maize. *Plant Physiology* **142**, 254-264
- Casamitjana-Martinez E, Hofhuis HF, Xu J, Liu CM, Heidstra R, Scheres B (2003) Root-specific *CLE19* overexpression and the *sol1/2* suppressors implicate a CLV-like pathway in the control of Arabidopsis root meristem maintenance. *Current Biology* 13, 1435-1441
- Casero PJ, Casimiro I, Lloret PG (1995) Lateral root initiation by asymmetrical transverse divisions of pericycle cells in four plant species: *Raphanus* sativus, Helianthus annuus, Zea mays, and Daucus carota. Protoplasma 188, 49-58
- Casimiro I, Beeckman T, Graham N, Bhalerao R, Zhang HM, Casero P, Sandberg G, Bennett MJ (2003) Dissecting Arabidopsis lateral root development. *Trends in Plant Science* 8, 165-171
- Casimiro I, Marchant A, Bhalerao RP, Beeckman T, Dhooge S, Swarup R, Graham N, Inzé D, Sandberg G, Casero PJ, Bennett M (2001) Auxin transport promotes Arabidopsis lateral root initiation. *Plant Cell* 13, 843-852
- Celenza JL, Grisafi PL, Fink GR (1995) A pathway for lateral root-formation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Genes and Development 9, 2131-2142
- Chhun T, Taketa S, Tsurumi S, Ichii M (2003) Interaction between two auxinresistant mutants and their effects on lateral root formation in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Journal of Experimental Botany 54, 2701-2708
- Clark JK, Sheridan WF (1991) Isolation and characterization of 51 embryospecific mutations of maize. *Plant Cell* **3**, 935-951
- Clowes FAL (1956) Nucleic acids in root apical meristems of Zea. New Phytologist 55, 29-34
- Consonni G, Aspesi C, Barbante A, Dolfini S, Giuliani C, Giulini A, Hansen S, Brettschneider R, Pilu R, Gavazzi G (2003) Analysis of four maize mutants arrested in early embryogenesis reveals an irregular pattern of cell division. *Sexual Plant Reproduction* **15**, 281-290
- Cui HC, Levesque MP, Vernoux T, Jung JW, Paquette AJ, Gallagher KL, Wang JY, Blilou I, Scheres B, Benfey PN (2007) An evolutionarily conserved mechanism delimiting SHR movement defines a single layer of endodermis in plants. *Science* 316, 421-425

Dembinsky D, Woll K, Saleem M, Liu Y, Fu Y, Borsuk LA, Lamkemeyer T,

Fladerer C, Madlung J, Barbazuk B, Nordheim A, Nettleton D, Schnable PS, Hochholdinger F (2007) Transcriptomic and proteomic analyses of pericycle cells of the maize primary root. *Plant Physiology* **145**, 575-588

- De Smet I, Tetsumura T, De Rybel B, Frey dit Frey N, Laplaze L, Casimiro I, Swarup R, Naudts M, Vanneste S, Audenaert D, Inze D, Bennett MJ, Beeckman T (2007) Auxin-dependent regulation of lateral root positioning in the basal meristem of Arabidopsis. *Development* **134**, 681-690
- Dharmasiri N, Dharmasiri S, Weijers D, Lechner E, Yamada M, Hobbie L, Ehrismann JS, Jürgens G, Estelle M (2005) Plant development is regulated by a family of auxin receptor F box proteins. *Developmental Cell* 9, 109-119
- Di Laurenzio L, Wysocka-Diller J, Malamy JE, Pysh L, Helariutta Y, Freshour G, Hahn MG, Feldmann KA, Benfey PN (1996) The SCARECROW gene regulates an asymmetric cell division that is essential for generating the radial organization of the Arabidopsis root. Cell 86, 423-433
- Dolan L, Janmaat K, Willemsen V, Linstead P, Poethig S, Roberts K, Scheres B (1993) Cellular organization of the Arabidopsis thaliana root. Development 119, 71-84
- Dolfini S, Landoni M, Consonni G, Rascio N, Dalla Vecchia F, Gavazzi G (1999) The maize *lilliputian* mutation is responsible for disrupted morphogenesis and minute stature. *The Plant Journal* 17, 11-17
- Dubrovsky JG, Doerner PW, Colon-Carmona A, Rost TL (2000) Pericycle cell proliferation and lateral root initiation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 124, 1648-1657
- Feix G, Hochholdinger F, Park WJ (2002) Maize root system and genetic analysis of its formation. In: Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U (Eds) *Plant Roots: The Hidden Half* (3rd Edn), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 239-248
- Feldman LJ (1976) De novo origin of quiescent center regenerating root apices of Zea mays. Planta 128, 207-212
- Fiers M, Golemiec E, Xu J, van der Geest L, Heidstra R, Stiekema W, Liu CM (2005) The 14-amino acid CLV3, CLE19, and CLE40 peptides trigger consumption of the root meristem in Arabidopsis through a CLAVATA2-dependent pathway. *Plant Cell* 17, 2542-2553
- Fiers M, Hause G, Boutilier K, Casamitjana-Martinez E, Weijers D, Offringa R, van der Geest L, Campagne MV, Liu CM (2004) Mis-expression of the CLV3/ESR-like gene CLE19 in Arabidopsis leads to a consumption of root meristem. Gene 327, 37-49
- Friml J, Benkova E, Blilou I, Wisniewska J, Hamann T, Ljung K, Woody S, Sandberg G, Scheres B, Jürgens G, Palme K (2002) AtPIN4 mediates sinkdriven auxin gradients and root patterning in Arabidopsis. *Cell* 108, 661-673
- Friml J, Vieten A, Sauer M, Weijers D, Schwarz H, Hamann T, Offringa R, Jürgens G (2003) Efflux-dependent auxin gradients establish the apicalbasal axis of Arabidopsis. *Nature* 426, 147-153
- Friml J, Yang X, Michniewicz M, Weijers D, Quint A, Tietz O, Benjamins R, Ouwerkerk PBF, Ljung K, Sandberg G, Hooykaas PJJ, Palme K, Offringa R (2004) A PINOID-dependent binary switch in apical-basal PIN polar targeting directs auxin efflux. *Science* **306**, 862-865
- Fukaki H, Nakao Y, Okushima Y, Theologis A, Tasaka M (2005a) Tissuespecific expression of stabilized SOLITARY-ROOT/IAA14 alters lateral root development in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 44, 382-395
- Fukaki H, Okushima Y, Tasaka M (2005b) Regulation of lateral root formation by auxin signaling in Arabidopsis. *Plant Biotechnology* 22, 393-399
- Fukaki H, Tameda S, Masuda H, Tasaka M (2002) Lateral root formation is blocked by a gain-of-function mutation in the SOLITARY-ROOT/IAA14 gene of Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal 29, 153-168
- Galinha C, Hofhuis H, Luijten M, Willemsen V, Blilou I, Heidstra R, Scheres B (2007) PLETHORA proteins as dose-dependent master regulators of Arabidopsis root development. *Nature* 449, 1053-1057
- Geisler M, Blakeslee JJ, Bouchard R, Lee OR, Vincenzetti V, Bandyopadhyay A, Titapiwatanakun B, Peer WA, Bailly A, Richards EL, Ejenda KFK, Smith AP, Baroux C, Grossniklaus U, Muller A, Hrycyna CA, Dudler R, Murphy AS, Martinoia E (2005) Cellular efflux of auxin catalyzed by the Arabidopsis MDR/PGP transporter AtPGP1. *The Plant Journal* 44, 179-194
- Geisler M, Murphy AS (2006) The ABC of auxin transport: The role of p-glycoproteins in plant development. *FEBS Letters* 580, 1094-1102
- Geldner N, Anders N, Wolters H, Keicher J, Kornberger W, Muller P, Delbarre A, Ueda T, Nakano A, Jürgens G (2003) The Arabidopsis GNOM ARF-GEF mediates endosomal recycling, auxin transport, and auxin-dependent plant growth. *Cell* 112, 219-230
- Geldner N, Richter S, Vieten A, Marquardt S, Torres-Ruiz RA, Mayer U, Jürgens G (2004) Partial loss-of-function alleles reveal a role for GNOM in auxin transport-related, post-embryonic development of Arabidopsis. *Development* 131, 389-400
- Gonzali S, Novi G, Loreti E, Paolicchi F, Poggi A, Alpi A, Perata P (2005) A turanose-insensitive mutant suggests a role for WOX5 in auxin homeostasis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *The Plant Journal* **44**, 633-645
- Gray WM, Kepinski S, Rouse D, Leyser O, Estelle M (2001) Auxin regulates SCFTIR1-dependent degradation of AUX/IAA proteins. *Nature* 414, 271-276
- Grieneisen VA, Xu J, Marée AFM, Hogeweg P, Scheres B (2007) Auxin transport is sufficient to generate a maximum and gradient guiding root growth. *Nature* 449, 1008-1013
- Haecker A, Gross-Hardt R, Geiges B, Sarkar A, Breuninger H, Herrmann M, Laux T (2004) Expression dynamics of *WOX* genes mark cell fate deci-

sions during early embryonic patterning in Arabidopsis thaliana. Development 131, 657-668

- Hamann T, Benkova E, Baurle I, Kientz M, Jürgens G (2002) The Arabidopsis BODENLOS gene encodes an auxin response protein inhibiting MONOP-TEROS-mediated embryo patterning. Genes and Development 16, 1610-1615
- Hardtke CS, Berleth T (1998) The Arabidopsis gene MONOPTEROS encodes a transcription factor mediating embryo axis formation and vascular development. *The EMBO Journal* 17, 1405-1411
- Heidstra R, Welch D, Scheres B (2004) Mosaic analyses using marked activetion and deletion clones dissect Arabidopsis SCARECROW action in asymmetric cell division. *Genes and Development* 18, 1964-1969
- Helariutta Y, Fukaki H, Wysocka-Diller J, Nakajima K, Jung J, Sena G, Hauser MT, Benfey PN (2000) The SHORT-ROOT gene controls radial patterning of the Arabidopsis root through radial signaling. Cell 101, 555-567
- Hellmann H, Hobbie L, Chapman A, Dharmasiri S, Dharmasiri N, del Pozo C, Reinhardt D, Estelle M (2003) Arabidopsis AXR6 encodes CUL1 implicating SCF E3 ligases in auxin regulation of embryogenesis. The EMBO Journal 22, 3314-3325
- Hetz W, Hochholdinger F, Schwall M, Feix G (1996) Isolation and characterization of *rtcs*, a maize mutant deficient in the formation of nodal roots. *The Plant Journal* **10**, 845-857
- Hobbie L, McGovern M, Hurwitz LR, Pierro A, Liu NY, Bandyopadhyay A, Estelle M (2000) The axr6 mutants of Arabidopsis thaliana define a gene involved in auxin response and early development. Development 127, 23-32
- Hobe M, Muller R, Grunewald M, Brand U, Simon R (2003) Loss of CLE40, a protein functionally equivalent to the stem cell restricting signal CLV3, enhances root waving in Arabidopsis. *Development, Genes and Evolution* 213, 371-381
- Hochholdinger F, Feix G (1998) Early post-embryonic root formation is specifically affected in the maize mutant *lrt1*. The Plant Journal 16, 247-255
- Hong SK, Aoki T, Kitano H, Satoh H, Nagato Y (1995) Phenotypic diversity of 188 rice embryo mutants. *Developmental Genetics* 16, 298-310
- Horiguchi G, Kodama H, Iba K (2003) Mutations in a gene for plastid ribosomal protein S6-like protein reveal a novel developmental process required for the correct organization of lateral root meristem in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 33, 521-529
- Inukai Y, Miwa M, Nagato Y, Kitano H, Yamauchi A (2001) Characterization of rice mutants deficient in the formation of crown roots. *Breeding Science* 51, 123-129
- Inukai Y, Sakamoto T, Ueguchi-Tanaka M, Shibata Y, Gomi K, Umemura I, Hasegawa Y, Ashikari M, Kitano H, Matsuoka M (2005) Crown rootless1, which is essential for crown root formation in rice, is a target of an AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR in auxin signaling. *Plant Cell* 17, 1387-1396
- Itoh J, Nonomura K, Ikeda K, Yamaki S, Inukai Y, Yamagishi H, Kitano H, Nagato Y (2005) Rice plant development: from zygote to spikelet. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 46, 23-47
- Jaillais Y, Fobis-Loisy I, Miege C, Rollin C, Gaude T (2006) AtSNX1 defines an endosome for auxin-carrier trafficking in Arabidopsis. *Nature* 443, 106-109
- Jenik PD, Jurkuta REJ, Barton MK (2005) Interactions between the cell cycle and embryonic patterning in Arabidopsis uncovered by a mutation in DNA polymerase ε. *Plant Cell* **17**, 3362-3377
- Jenkins MT (1930) Heritable characters of maize. Journal of Heredity 21, 79-80
- Jiang K, Meng YL, Feldman LJ (2003) Quiescent center formation in maize roots is associated with an auxin-regulated oxidizing environment. *Development* 130, 1429-1438
- Jürgens G (2001) Apical-basal pattern formation in Arabidopsis embryogenesis. The EMBO Journal 20, 3609-3616
- Kamiya N, Itoh JI, Morikami A, Nagato Y, Matsuoka M (2003) The SCARECROW gene's role in asymmetric cell divisions in rice plants. The Plant Journal 36, 45-54
- Kerk NM, Feldman LJ (1995) A biochemical model for the initiation and maintenance of the quiescent center: Implications for organization of rootmeristems. *Development* 121, 2825-2833
- Kinae T, Hong SK, Nagato Y (2005) Apical displacement1 gene regulates apical-basal pattern formation in rice embryo. Plant Science 168, 1345-1351
- King JJ, Stimart DP, Fisher RH, Bleecker AB (1995) A mutation altering auxin homeostasis and plant morphology in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 7, 2023-2037
- Landoni M, Gavazzi G, Rascio N, Dalla Vecchia F, Consonni G, Dolfini S (2000) A maize mutant with an altered vascular pattern. *Annals of Botany* **85**, 143-150
- Laskowski MJ, Williams ME, Nusbaum HC, Sussex IM (1995) Formation of lateral root meristems is a two-stage process. *Development* **121**, 3303-3310
- Laux T (2003) The stem cell concept in plants: A matter of debate. *Cell* **113**, 281-283
- Levesque MP, Vernoux T, Busch W, Cui HC, Wang JY, Blilou I, Hassan H, Nakajima K, Matsumoto N, Lohmann JU, Scheres B, Benfey PN (2006) Whole-genome analysis of the SHORT-ROOT developmental pathway in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Biology* **4**, 739-752
- Lewis DR, Miller ND, Splitt BL, Wu G, Spalding EP (2007) Separating the roles of acropetal and basipetal auxin transport of gravitropism with muta-

tions in two Arabidopsis multidrug resistance-like ABC transporter genes. *Plant Cell* **19**, 1838-1850

- Lim J, Helariutta Y, Specht CD, Jung J, Sims L, Bruce WB, Diehn S, Benfey PN (2000) Molecular analysis of the SCARECROW gene in maize reveals a common basis for radial patterning in diverse meristems. *Plant Cell* 12, 1307-1318
- Lim J, Jung JW, Lim CE, Lee MH, Kim BJ, Kim M, Bruce WB, Benfey PN (2005) Conservation and diversification of SCARECROW in maize. *Plant Molecular Biology* 59, 619-630
- Liu HJ, Wang SF, Yu XB, Yu J, He XW, Zhang SL, Shou HX, Wu P (2005) ARL1, a LOB-domain protein required for adventitious root formation in rice. *The Plant Journal* **43**, 47-56
- Ljung K, Bhalerao RP, Sandberg G (2001) Sites and homeostatic control of auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis during vegetative growth. *The Plant Journal* 28, 465-474
- Ljung K, Hull AK, Celenza J, Yamada M, Estelle M, Normanly J, Sandberg G (2005) Sites and regulation of auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis roots. *Plant Cell* 17, 1090-1104
- Lloret PG, Casero PJ (2002) Lateral root initiation. In: Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U (Eds) *Plant Roots: The Hidden Half* (3rd Edn), Marcel Dekker, New York, pp 49-82
- Malamy JE, Benfey PN (1997) Organization and cell differentiation in lateral roots of Arabidopsis thaliana. Development 124, 33-44
- Mayer U, Buttner G, Jürgens G (1993) Apical-basal pattern formation in the Arabidopsis embryo - Studies on the role of the GNOM gene. Development 117, 149-162
- Michniewicz M, Zago MK, Abas L, Weijers D, Schweighofer A, Meskiene I, Heisler MG, Ohno C, Zhang J, Huang F, Schwab R, Weigel D, Meyerowitz EM, Luschnig C, Offringa R, Friml J (2007) Antagonistic regulation of PIN phosphorylation by PP2A and PINOID directs auxin flux. *Cell* 130, 1044-1056
- Morita Y, Kyozuka J (2007) Characterization of OsPID, the rice ortholog of PINOID, and its possible involvement in the control of polar auxin transport. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **48**, 540-549
- Multani DS, Briggs SP, Chamberlin MA, Blakeslee JJ, Murphy AS, Johal GS (2003) Loss of an MDR transporter in compact stalks of maize *br2* and sorghum *dw3* mutants. *Science* **302**, 81-84
- Nakajima K, Sena G, Nawy T, Benfey PN (2001) Intercellular movement of the putative transcription factor SHR in root patterning. *Nature* 413, 307-311
- Nakamura A, Umemura I, Gomi K, Hasegawa Y, Kitano H, Sazuka T, Matsuoka M (2006) Production and characterization of auxin-insensitive rice by overexpression of a mutagenized rice IAA protein. *The Plant Journal* 46, 297-306
- Nakazono M, Qiu F, Borsuk LA, Schnable PS (2003) Laser-capture microdissection, a tool for the global analysis of gene expression in specific plant cell types: Identification of genes expressed differentially in epidermal cells or vascular tissues of maize. *Plant Cell* 15, 583-596
- Nawy T, Lee JY, Colinas J, Wang JY, Thongrod SC, Malamy JE, Birnbaum K, Benfey PN (2005) Transcriptional profile of the Arabidopsis root quiescent center. *Plant Cell* 17, 1908-1925
- Noh B, Bandyopadhyay A, Peer WA, Spalding EP, Murphy AS (2003) Enhanced gravi- and phototropism in plant *mdr* mutants mislocalizing the auxin efflux protein PIN1. *Nature* **423**, 999-1002
- Noh B, Murphy AS, Spalding EP (2001) Multidrug resistance-like genes of Arabidopsis required for auxin transport and auxin-mediated development. *Plant Cell* **13**, 2441-2454
- Ohashi-Ito K, Bergmann DC (2007) Regulation of the Arabidopsis root vascular initial population by LONESOME HIGHWAY. Development 134, 2959-2968
- Okushima Y, Fukaki H, Onoda M, Theologis A, Tasaka M (2007) ARF7 and ARF19 regulate lateral root formation via direct activation of *LBD/ASL* genes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* **19**, 118-130
- Okushima Y, Overvoorde PJ, Arima K, Alonso JM, Chan A, Chang C, Ecker JR, Hughes B, Lui A, Nguyen D, Onodera C, Quach H, Smith A, Yu G, Theologis A (2005) Functional genomic analysis of the AUXIN RES-PONSE FACTOR gene family members in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: Unique and overlapping functions of ARF7 and ARF19. *Plant Cell* **17**, 444-463
- Paponov IA, Teale WD, Trebar M, Blilou K, Palme K (2005) The PIN auxin efflux facilitators: evolutionary and functional perspectives. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 170-177
- Petrasek J, Mravec J, Bouchard R, Blakeslee JJ, Abas M, Seifertova D, Wisniewska J, Tadele Z, Kubes M, Covanova M, Dhonukshe P, Skupa P, Benkova E, Perry L, Krecek P, Lee OR, Fink GR, Geisler M, Murphy AS, Luschnig C, Zazimalova E, Friml J (2006) PIN proteins perform a rate-limiting function in cellular auxin efflux. Science 312, 914-918
- Przemeck GKH, Mattsson J, Hardtke CS, Sung ZR, Berleth T (1996) Studies on the role of the Arabidopsis gene MONOPTEROS in vascular development and plant cell axialization. Planta 200, 229-237
- Randolph LF (1936) Developmental morphology of the caryopsis in maize. Journal of Agricultural Research 53, 881-916
- Rost TL, Jones TJ (1988) Pea root regeneration after tip excisions at different levels: Polarity of new growth. *Annals of Botany* **61**, 513-523
- Sabatini S, Beis D, Wolkenfelt H, Murfett J, Guilfoyle T, Malamy J, Benfey

P, Leyser O, Bechtold N, Weisbeek P, Scheres B (1999) An auxin-dependent distal organizer of pattern and polarity in the Arabidopsis root. *Cell* **99**, 463-472

- Sabatini S, Heidstra R, Wildwater M, Scheres B (2003) SCARECROW is involved in positioning the stem cell niche in the Arabidopsis root meristem. *Genes and Development* 17, 354-358
- Santelia D, Vincenzetti V, Azzarello E, Bovet L, Fukao Y, Düchtig P, Mancuso S, Martinoia E, Geisler M (2005) MDR-like ABC transporter AtPGP4 is involved in auxin-mediated lateral root and root hair development. *FEBS Letters* 579, 5399-5406
- Sarkar AK, Luijten M, Miyashima S, Lenhard M, Hashimoto T, Nakajima K, Scheres B, Heidstra R, Laux T (2007) Conserved factors regulate signalling in Arabidopsis thaliana shoot and root stem cell organizers. Nature 446, 811-814
- Sato Y, Nishimura A, Ito M, Ashikari M, Hirano HY, Matsuoka M (2001) Auxin response factor family in rice. *Genes and Genetic Systems* **76**, 373-380
- Scanlon MJ, Henderson DC, Bernstein B (2002) SEMAPHORE1 functions during the regulation of ancestrally duplicated *knox* genes and polar auxin transport in maize. *Development* 129, 2663-2673
- Scarpella E, Rueb S, Meijer AH (2003) The RADICLELESSI gene is required for vascular pattern formation in rice. Development 130, 645-658
- Scheres B, Di Laurenzio L, Willemsen V, Hauser MT, Janmaat K, Weisbeek P, Benfey PN (1995) Mutations affecting the radial organization of the Arabidopsis root display specific defects throughout the embryonic axis. *Development* 121, 53-62
- Scheres B, Wolkenfelt H, Willemsen V, Terlouw M, Lawson E, Dean C, Weisbeek P (1994) Embryonic origin of the Arabidopsis primary root and root meristem initials. *Development* 120, 2475-2487
- Serralbo O, Perez-Perez JM, Heidstra R, Scheres B (2006) Non-cell-autonomous rescue of anaphase-promoting complex function revealed by mosaic analysis of HOBBIT, an Arabidopsis CDC27 homolog. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 103, 13250-13255
- Spencer MWB, Casson SA, Lindsey K (2007) Transcriptional profiling of the Arabidopsis embryo. *Plant Physiology* 143, 924-940
- Steinmann T, Geldner N, Grebe M, Mangold S, Jackson CL, Paris S, Galweiler L, Palme K, Jürgens G (1999) Coordinated polar localization of auxin efflux carrier PIN1 by GNOM ARF GEF. *Science* 286, 316-318
- Swarup R, Friml J, Marchant A, Ljung K, Sandberg G, Palme K, Bennett M (2001) Localization of the auxin permease AUX1 suggests two functionally distinct hormone transport pathways operate in the Arabidopsis root apex. *Genes and Development* 15, 2648-2653
- Taramino G, Sauer M, Stauffer JL, Multani D, Niu XM, Sakai H, Hochholdinger F (2007) The maize (*Zea mays* L.) *RTCS* gene encodes a LOB domain protein that is a key regulator of embryonic seminal and post-embryonic shoot-borne root initiation. *The Plant Journal* 50, 649-659
- Terasaka K, Blakeslee JJ, Titapiwatanakun B, Peer WA, Bandyopadhyay A, Makam SN, Lee OR, Richards EL, Murphy AS, Sato F, Yazaki K (2005) PGP4, an ATP binding cassette P-glycoprotein, catalyzes auxin transport in *Arabidopsis thaliana* roots. *Plant Cell* **17**, 2922-2939
- Thomann A, Brukhin V, Dieterle M, Gheyeselinck J, Vantard M, Grossniklaus U, Genschik P (2005) Arabidopsis *CUL3A* and *CUL3B* genes are essential for normal embryogenesis. *The Plant Journal* **43**, 437-448
- van den Berg C, Willemsen V, Hendriks G, Weisbeek P, Scheres B (1997) Short-range control of cell differentiation in the Arabidopsis root meristem. *Nature* 390, 287-289

- Vanneste S, De Rybel B, Beemster GTS, Ljung K, De Smet I, Van Isterdael G, Naudts M, Iida R, Gruissem W, Tasaka M, Inzé D, Fukaki H, Beeckman T (2005) Cell cycle progression in the pericycle is not sufficient for SOLITARY ROOT/IAA14-mediated lateral root initiation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell 17, 3035-3050
- Vieten A, Vanneste S, Wisniewska J, Benkova E, Benjamins R, Beeckman T, Luschnig C, Friml J (2005) Functional redundancy of PIN proteins is accompanied by auxin dependent cross-regulation of *PIN* expression. *Development* 132, 4521-4531
- Wang H, Taketa S, Miyao A, Hirochika H, Ichii M (2006) Isolation of a novel lateral-rootless mutant in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) with reduced sensitivity to auxin. *Plant Science* 170, 70-77
- Weijers D, Benkova E, Jager KE, Schlereth A, Hamann T, Kientz M, Wilmoth JC, Reed JW, Jürgens G (2005) Developmental specificity of auxin response by pairs of ARF and Aux/IAA transcriptional regulators. *The EMBO Journal* 24, 1874-1885
- Weijers D, Schlereth A, Ehrismann JS, Schwank G, Kientz M, Jürgens G (2006) Auxin triggers transient local signaling for cell specification in Arabidopsis embryogenesis. *Developmental Cell* 10, 265-270
- Willemsen V, Wolkenfelt H, de Vrieze G, Weisbeek P, Scheres B (1998) The *HOBBIT* gene is required for formation of the root meristem in the Arabidopsis embryo. *Development* **125**, 521-531
- Willemsen V, Friml J, Grebe M, van den Toorn A, Palme K, Scheres B (2003) Cell polarity and PIN positioning in Arabidopsis require STEROL METHYLTRANSFERASE 1 function. *Plant Cell* **15**, 612-625
- Wisniewska J, Xu J, Seifertova D, Brewer PB, Ruzicka K, Blilou I, Rouquie D, Scheres B, Friml J (2006) Polar PIN localization directs auxin flow in plants. *Science* 312, 883
- Woll K, Borsuk LA, Stransky H, Nettleton D, Schnable PS, Hochholdinger F (2005) Isolation, characterization, and pericycle-specific transcriptome analyses of the novel maize lateral and seminal root initiation mutant *rum1*. *Plant Physiology* **139**, 1255-1267
- Wysocka-Diller JW, Helariutta Y, Fukaki H, Malamy JE, Benfey PN (2000) Molecular analysis of SCARECROW function reveals a radial patterning mechanism common to root and shoot. *Development* 127, 595-603
- Xu J, Hofhuis H, Heidstra R, Sauer M, Friml J, Scheres B (2006) A molecular framework for plant regeneration. *Science* **311**, 385-388
- Xu M, Zhu L, Shou HX, Wu P (2005) A PINI family gene, OsPINI, involved in auxin-dependent adventitious root emergence and tillering in rice. Plant and Cell Physiology 46, 1674-1681
- Yang Y, Hammes UZ, Taylor CG, Schachtman DP, Nielsen E (2006) Highaffinity auxin transport by the AUX1 influx carrier protein. *Current Biology* 16, 1-6
- Yang Y, Yu XB, Wu P (2006) Comparison and evolution analysis of two rice subspecies LATERAL ORGAN BOUNDARIES domain gene family and their evolutionary characterization from Arabidopsis. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 39, 248-262
- Zimmermann R, Werr W (2005) Pattern formation in the monocot embryo as revealed by NAM and CUC3 orthologues from Zea mays L. Plant Molecular Biology 58, 669-685
- Zimmermann R, Werr W (2007) Transcription of the putative maize orthologue of the Arabidopsis DORNROSCHEN gene marks early asymmetry in the proembryo and during leaf initiation in the shoot apical meristem. Gene Expression Patterns 7, 158-164